THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge  
Lexington County  
Trial Court Case No. Case No. 2020-CP-32-04007

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001585

---

Insurance Office of America, Inc.

Respondent,

v.

1221 Bower, LLC

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

William S. Hammett  
Jenna K. DePoy  
Cobb Hammett Law Firm  
222 W. Coleman Blvd.,  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
[whammett@cobbhammett.com](mailto:whammett@cobbhammett.com)  
[jdepoy@cobbhammett.com](mailto:jdepoy@cobbhammett.com)  
(843) 936-6680

*Attorneys for Appellant 1221 Bower, LLC*

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in reducing Appellant's attorneys' fees based on an improper consideration of the *Blumberg* Factors?
2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in reducing Appellant's attorneys' fees based on unsuccessful motions, excluded evidence, and duplicative trial preparation?
3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in reducing Appellant's attorneys' fees based on inferences drawn from disputed evidence and improperly admitted prejudicial evidence?

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This case originated in the Court of Common Pleas for the County of Lexington. Jurisdiction was proper. Appellant 1221 Bower, LLC appealed the Court of Common Pleas' partial grant of Appellant's motion for attorneys' fees and costs to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The South Carolina Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over this matter as it does not lie within any of the seven classes of cases that the South Carolina Supreme Court exercises exclusive jurisdiction over, pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-8-200(a)-(b). Therefore, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this case and controversy.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In July of 2019, 1221 Bower, LLC ("Appellant" or "1221 Bower") purchased the office spaces located at 1221 Bower Parkway Units 101, 102, 103, 104, and 105, in Columbia, SC 29212 ("Premises") from I.O.A. Properties III, LLC and assumed the lease agreement ("Lease") with I.O.A. Properties III, LLC's affiliate and tenant, Insurance Office of America, Inc. ("Respondent" or "IOA"). (ROA 0056). Unbeknownst to 1221 Bower at the time of the purchase, while I.O.A. Properties III, LLC owned the Premises multiple water intrusion events occurred throughout the

Premises which were caused by the residential condominium units located on the two floors above the Premises. (ROA 0057).

Thereafter, during the middle of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, there was a water leak, which was identical to the leaks that previously afflicted the Premises and were caused by a toilet leak located in the residential units above the Premises. (ROA 0057). This water leak was the beginning of what would be a three (3) year long dispute. 1221 Bower made repeated efforts to repair the water leak located in the shared common wall between Units 102 and 103, which included hiring plumbers to come out to the Premises at least eight (8) different times between August 2020 and December 2020 and having mold remediation performed. (ROA 0077-0078). Unfortunately, 1221 Bower's efforts to remedy the water leak were complicated due to (i) COVID-19 related delays, (ii) plumber availability delays, (iii) an inability to gain access to upstairs residential units where the cause of the leak was located, (iv) delays caused by IOA, and (v) the fact that the leak was fixed several times between August 2020 and December 2020 but kept reoccurring. (ROA 0155). As a result, 1221 Bower was unable to repair the water leak within IOA's desired time frame and on December 1, 2020, IOA sent 1221 Bower a letter stating their intent to terminate the Lease seven (7) years early and a demand for a reimbursement of rent. (ROA 0059). Rather than allowing 1221 Bower time to respond to the demands, the very next day IOA filed a lawsuit against 1221 Bower on December 2, 2020, seeking a declaratory judgement from the trial court that IOA validly terminated the Lease and were entitled to an abatement of rent. (ROA 0029-0035). 1221 Bower then counterclaimed seeking a declaratory judgment confirming the existence of the Lease and that IOA breached the Lease. (ROA 0036-0052).

For the next three (3) years, 1221 Bower was forced to defend itself against IOA's lawsuit and to pursue its counterclaims. (ROA 0142). This included eleven (11) depositions, twenty-six

(26) motions filed with the court, a mediation, over a dozen rounds of discovery requests, and numerous subpoenas. (ROA 0145). The jury trial was held from January 22, 2024 through January 26, 2024 at the Lexington County Courthouse before the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope. (ROA 0149). The jury rendered the following verdicts: (i) a verdict in favor of 1221 Bower on IOA's first cause of action for declaratory judgment relating to the termination of the Lease; (ii) a verdict and judgment for Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$25,000.00) to IOA on IOA's second cause of action relating to reimbursement of rent; (iii) a verdict in favor of 1221 Bower on 1221 Bower's cause of action for declaratory judgment confirming the existence of the Lease; and (iv) a verdict and judgment for One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$150,000.00) to 1221 Bower on 1221 Bower's counterclaim for breach of contract. (ROA 0010-0011).

On February 29, 2024, 1221 Bower filed its Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs along with an affidavit of attorneys' fees and the corresponding invoices that catalog the billable activity throughout the duration of the three (3) years of litigation. In total, 1221 Bower sought attorneys' fees and costs in the amount of One Hundred Seventy-Two Thousand Two Hundred Six and 03/100 Dollars (\$172,206.03). (ROA 0145).

A post-trial hearing was held on March 4, 2024 for 1221 Bower's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs as well as IOA's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and for Costs under the declaratory judgement action. Subsequently, on September 11, 2024, the trial court issued its Post-Trial Order denying both of IOA's Motions for Judgement Notwithstanding the Verdict and for Costs. (ROA 0015). The trial court granted in part and denied in part 1221 Bower's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs and awarded 1221 Bower reduced attorneys' fees and costs in the amount of Ninety-Four Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars (\$94,500.00). (ROA 0016).

1221 Bower timely filed its Notice of Appeal of the Post-Trial Order to this Court on September 17, 2024 and its Amended Notice of Appeal of the Post-Trial Order on September 23, 2024.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

“When there is a contract, the award of attorneys’ fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *Baron Data Sys., Inc. v. Loter*, 297 S.C. 382, 384, 377 S.E.2d 296, 297 (1989). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Kiriakides v. Sch. Dist. Of Greenville Cnty.*, 382 S.C. 8, 20, 675 S.E.2d 439, 445 (2009).

To preserve an error for appellate review, a contemporaneous objection is required. *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994). An appellate court will reverse a trial court’s evidentiary ruling only if it reflects an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or lacks evidentiary support. *Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc.*, 412 S.C. 433, 448, 772 S.E.2d 544, 551 (Ct. App. 2015). To justify reversal based on the admission of evidence, an appellant must demonstrate both an error of law and resulting prejudice. *Conway v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 301, 307, 609 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 2005).

### ARGUMENT

**I. The Court should reverse the trial court’s reduced award of Appellant’s attorneys’ fees because the reduction was based on an improper consideration of the Blumberg Factors.**

The trial court abused its discretion in reducing Appellant’s attorneys’ fees based on an improper assessment of the six (6) *Blumberg* Factors. In South Carolina, the general rule is that

attorneys' fees are not recoverable unless authorized by contract or by statute. *Baron Data Sys., Inc.*, 297 S.C. at 384, 377 S.E.2d at 297. In *Blumberg*, the South Carolina Supreme Court established “the six (6) factors to consider in determining an award for attorneys’ fees: (1) nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered; (2) time and labor devoted to the case; (3) professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; (5) fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services; and (6) beneficial results obtained.” *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 494, 427 S.E.2d 659, 660 (1993). “Our case law and court rules make clear that when a contract authorizes an award of attorneys’ fees, the trial court must make specific findings of fact on the record for each of the required factors to be considered.” *Griffith v. Griffith*, 332 S.C. 630, 646, 506 S.E.2d 526, 534-535 (Ct. App. 1998). Without sufficient evidentiary support on the record for each of the factors, the award should be reversed and the issue remanded for the trial court to make specific factual findings. *Blumberg*, 310 S.C. at 494, 427 S.E.2d at 661.

**A. Improper weight was given to the “beneficial results obtained” Blumberg factor.**

The trial court abused its discretion in reducing Appellant’s attorneys’ fees based on the improper weight given to the “beneficial results obtained” *Blumberg* Factor. Consideration is to be given to all of the *Blumberg* Factors as none of the factors are controlling. *Taylor v. Medenica*, 331 S.C. 575, 580, 503 S.E.2d 458, 461 (1998). Importantly, the “beneficial results obtained” factor *merely aids* in determining whether an award is appropriate when considering whether the services of a lawyer facilitated a favorable result. [*Emphasis added*] *Glasscock v. Glasscock*, 304 S.C. 158, 161, 403 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1991).

In *Baron Data Systems, Inc.*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals due to the improper weight given to the “beneficial results obtained” factor. *Baron Data Sys., Inc.*, 297 S.C. at 386, 377 S.E.2d at 298. There, the trial court had found that “the

total benefits Baron obtained included a sizeable judgement of Sixteen Thousand One Hundred Fifty-One and 00/100 Dollars (\$16,151.00) and the avoidance of nearly half a million dollars in liability on the counterclaims.” *Id.* at 385, 377 S.E.2d at 297. However, the Court of Appeals subsequently concluded that Baron’s beneficial result was not significant enough to support the trial court’s award of attorneys’ fees because Baron had initially sought over Seventy Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$70,000.00) in damages and only recovered Sixteen Thousand One Hundred Fifty-One and 00/100 Dollars (\$16,151.00). *Id.* at 385, 377 S.E.2d at 297. The Supreme Court determined that based on a reading of the Court of Appeals’ opinion, it was evident that the amount of the monetary judgement was the critical factor upon which the Court of Appeals relied in making its decision. *Id.* at 385, 377 S.E.2d at 297. Because the amount of recovery is but one factor to be considered when determining reasonable attorneys’ fees, the Supreme Court reversed the erroneous decision of the Court of Appeals. *Id.* at 385, 377 S.E.2d at 297.

Like in *Baron Data Systems, Inc.*, the trial court here erred by diminishing the significance of the “beneficial results obtained” by Appellant based solely on the disparity between the amount of damages initially sought by Appellant and the amount ultimately recovered by Appellant. For example, the trial court states “the jury reduced Landlord’s damages claim by \$514,302.35. The significant disparity between what was claimed and what was awarded warrants a reduction in the amount of fees and expenses that Landlord should recover.” (ROA 0019). This erroneous comparison is similar to that of the Court of Appeals in *Baron Data Systems*, which was ultimately reversed.

The trial court’s approach improperly discounts the substance of the verdict and the overall success Appellant achieved. The jury’s verdict clearly demonstrated that Appellant prevailed on multiple claims, including: (i) Respondent’s first cause of action for declaratory judgment

regarding termination of the Lease, (ii) Appellant's first cause of action for declaratory judgment regarding termination of the Lease, and (iii) Appellant's counterclaim for breach of contract, which resulted in a judgment for Appellant in the amount of One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$150,000.00). (ROA 0015).

In stark contrast, Respondent prevailed on only one claim—a partial award of Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$25,000.00) on Respondent's second cause of action for a partial refund of rent under Section 11.1 of the Lease. (ROA 0015). When comparing the number of claims on which Appellant secured a favorable judgment versus the one limited claim Respondent partially succeeded on, it becomes abundantly clear that Appellant obtained significant beneficial results. The trial court's reliance on a narrow, numerical comparison of damages fails to capture the broader context of the litigation's outcome. Appellant achieved success on multiple fronts, including securing a substantial monetary judgment, and the trial court's decision to diminish these results constitutes an abuse of discretion.

It is well-established that the "beneficial results obtained" factor should not be reduced to a mere tally of damages recovered, but rather should be viewed in the context of the overall success in the litigation, as demonstrated by Appellant's favorable outcomes on multiple claims. The trial court's error in giving undue weight to the amount of damages recovered, while disregarding the significant claims Appellant won, undermines the proper application of the *Blumberg* Factors and warrants reconsideration in conformity with *Baron Data Systems, Inc.*

In the Post Trial Order, the trial court's approach reveals a clear and improper focus on the amount of the monetary judgment obtained by Appellant, to the detriment of a fair and comprehensive evaluation of all relevant *Blumberg* Factors. Despite the importance of considering the full range of factors in determining reasonable attorneys' fees, the trial court dedicates a

disproportionate five (5) pages of its ten (10) page opinion solely to an analysis of the amount of the judgment recovered by Appellant. (ROA 0016, 0018-0021). In contrast, the trial court devotes just a little over one (1) page to evaluating the remaining five (5) *Blumberg* Factors, which are equally important in determining the appropriateness of an attorneys' fee award. (ROA 0024-0025).

This imbalanced analysis mirrors the concerns raised in *Baron Data Systems*, where a similar overemphasis on the amount recovered led to an erroneous decision. In both cases, the court relied too heavily on a single factor—here, the monetary judgment—while failing to properly weigh the other factors that contribute to a fair and equitable attorneys' fee award. The trial court's overemphasis on the amount of the judgment creates a fundamentally flawed conclusion, ignoring the broader context of Appellant's legal achievements and the overall nature of the case.

The *Blumberg* Factors require a balanced, holistic review of the circumstances surrounding the litigation, not a decision driven primarily by the outcome in terms of monetary damages. By focusing almost exclusively on the monetary recovery, the trial court committed an error in judgment, resulting in an unjust reduction of Appellant's attorneys' fees. This improper reliance on a single factor—especially to the exclusion of a more comprehensive review—warrants reversal and remand for proper consideration of all relevant factors.

Specifically, the trial court repeatedly mentions that Appellant was only awarded twenty three percent (23%) of the Six Hundred Sixty-Four Thousand Three Hundred Two and 25/100 Dollars (\$664,302.25) in damages sought in Appellant's Pre-Trial Brief, which included the attorneys' fees incurred as of that date. (ROA 0016, 0018-0019). Although the trial court acknowledges that attorneys' fees were factored into the amount of damages sought, the trial court erroneously contends that Appellant's Pre-Trial Brief failed to allocate between attorneys' fees and

actual damages making it impossible to determine the specific amounts of each that were being claimed. (ROA 0023). This finding is inconsistent with the fact that page 10 of Appellant's Pre-Trial Brief contained a chart with the breakdown of the damages sought and specifically apportioned One Hundred Sixteen Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Two and 86/100 Dollars (\$116,972.86) to attorneys' fees incurred as of that date. (ROA 0085).

In the Post Trial Order, the trial court places undue emphasis on the degree of success when determining the award of attorneys' fees, devoting two full pages to citations regarding the application of percentage reductions based on partial success. However, every case cited by the trial court in this section involves the award of attorneys' fees under federal and state statutes that limit the award of attorneys' fees to the "prevailing party," a threshold that is not applicable to the present case. *See e.g., Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 103 S. Ct. 1933 (1983) (attorney's fees awarded under the Civil Rights Attorney's Fees Awards Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C.S. §1988(b)); *Johnson v. City of Aiken*, 278 F.3d. 333 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) (attorney's fees awarded under 42 U.S.C.S. §1988(b)); *S.C. Citizens for Life, Inc. v. Krawcheck*, 2011 WL 13324484 (attorney's fees awarded under 42 U.S.C.S. §1988(b)); *Prevatte v. Asbury Arms*, 302 S.C. 413, 396 S.E.2d 642 (Ct. App. 1990) (attorney's fees awarded under S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-40-410(b)). These federal statutes limit the award of attorneys' fees to the "prevailing party," a threshold that is not applicable to the present case. In each of these cases, the courts' analysis was framed within the specific statutory context, which limits fee awards to "prevailing parties" or requires a reduction based on the degree of success.

By contrast, the attorneys' fees in the present case are not governed by federal law or statutes with similar limitations, but rather by a contract between the Parties. Specifically,

Appellant is entitled to attorneys' fees under Sections 12.5 and 15.23 of the Lease, which do not condition the right to fees on being the "prevailing party." Section 12.5 of the Lease states:

"Following the occurrence of any Event of Default, Tenant shall also be liable for and shall pay to Landlord, in addition to any sum provided to be paid above: [the above being Tenant's rent payment obligations] [...] (vii) all reasonable expenses incurred by Landlord in enforcing or defending Landlord's rights and/or remedies at law and equity or hereunder, **including reasonable attorneys' fees (which shall not be less than fifteen (15%) of all sums then owing by Tenant to Landlord), litigation expenses and court costs.**"

*See* (ROA 1266-1302).

Additionally, Section 15.23 of the Lease provides:

"In the event of a breach by Tenant of any of the covenants or provisions hereof, and irrespective of whether Landlord declares a Default or exercises its remedies under Article XII in connection therewith, to obtain an injunction of such breach therein, and the right to invoke any other remedies allowed at law or at equity as if re-entry, summary proceedings, or other remedies were not herein provided for, and in the event of such breach by Tenant, **Landlord shall be entitled to recovery from Tenant**, payable as Additional Rent hereunder, **any and all expenses as Landlord may incur in connection with its efforts to secure such injunctive relief or other remedy at law or in equity, including but not limited to, court costs and attorneys' fees.**"

*See* (ROA 1266-1302).

As such, the trial court's reliance on cases involving federal statutes and the "prevailing party" standard is misplaced. There is no statutory or contractual language in this case that requires Appellant to achieve total success on all claims in order to be entitled to attorneys' fees and Section 15.23 specifically authorizes any and all fees incurred in connection with this matter.

Thus, the trial court's reliance on cases interpreting federal statutes or the "prevailing party" standard is legally improper. Appellant is entitled to attorneys' fees under the Lease as agreed to by the Parties, and the trial court's decision to reduce those fees based on an incorrect

application of federal law is a clear abuse of discretion. The case should be remanded for a proper analysis in accordance with the contractual provisions, not federal or state statutory requirements.

In light of the trial court's improper and disproportionate emphasis on the "beneficial results obtained" factor, and the trial court's failure to apply the terms of Section 15.23 of the Lease according to its plain language, the resulting reduction of Appellant's attorneys' fees, constitutes an abuse of its discretion. The trial court failed to properly balance all of the relevant *Blumberg* Factors and erroneously relied on the wrong standard. Given that Appellant is entitled to attorneys' fees under the terms of the Lease, and considering the significant legal success achieved, this Court should correct the trial court's error. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's decision and award the full amount of reasonable attorneys' fees initially sought, in recognition of the contractual entitlement and the substantial results obtained throughout the litigation.

**B. Improper assessment of the other relevant *Blumberg* Factors.**

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