RECEIVED

Jun 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Lexington County

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001585
Trial Court Case No.: 2020-CP-32-04007

Insurance Office of America, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

1221 Bower, LLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT INSURANCE OFFICE OF AMERICA, INC.

Ellis R. Lesemann
Michelle A. Stewart
Lesemann & Associates LLC
418 King Street, Suite 301
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
(843) 724-5155

Attorneys for Respondent

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

As indicated by the chart below, consideration was given to all six criteria set forth in *Blumberg*. The trial court made specific findings of fact for each factor, which are set out in the Order:

Blumberg Factor	Trial Court’s Findings of Fact	Did Factor Support Reduction in Fees?
The nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered	“Although the case was well-litigated, it was a commercial lease dispute that was not exceptional or novel.” (R. p. 0024.)	YES
Time and labor devoted to the case	<p>“Fees and expenses incurred by Landlord in seeking to defeat IOA’s successful claim for reimbursement of rent should not be charged to IOA.” (R. p. 0019.)</p> <p>Upon review of the record provided in support of Landlord’s Motion, Landlord did not make any adjustment for its limited degree of success or time spend on unsuccessful motions or on developing inadmissible evidence.” (R. p. 0023.)</p> <p>“Landlord also requests all fees and costs for what appears to be three or more rounds of trial preparation, which appears to be duplicative.” (R. p. 0023.)</p> <p>“[T]he Court believes that the involvement of 18 timekeepers on a single file appears excessive and inefficient.” (R. p. 0024.)</p> <p>“There are also a number of instances of ‘block billing’ that does not include detail about the tasks being performed.” (R. p. 0025.)</p> <p>“The Court does not question that the work was performed, but the record does not justify awarding the total hours or fees requested based on the <i>Blumberg</i> factors.” (R. p. 0025.)</p>	YES
Professional standing of counsel	<p>“The Court finds that Landlord’s counsel has good professional standing.” (R. p. 0024.)</p> <p>“Additionally, no information has been provided about the skills, experience, or professional standing of each of the timekeepers.” (R. p. 0025.)</p>	YES

Blumberg Factor	Trial Court’s Findings of Fact	Did Factor Support Reduction in Fees?
Contingency of compensation	“Also, based on the invoices provided, it appears that the compensation of counsel was not contingent.” (R. p. 0024.)	YES
Fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services	<p>“From the record presented, it is uncertain how the fees requested would compare to the fees customarily charged in the locality for similar services.” (R. p. 0024.)</p> <p>“Although the hourly rates charged do not appear to be excessive, the involvement of so[] many timekeepers would result in an increase of the total hours.” (R. pp. 0024 – 0025.)</p>	YES
Beneficial results obtained	<p>“The relative degree of success on the merits is of particular importance when evaluating a request for attorney’s fees and expenses.” (R. p. 0019.)</p> <p>“Such considerations apply here based on the jury’s verdict, both the verdict in favor of IOA and the verdict in favor of Landlord for an amount significantly less than what Landlord had claimed.” (R. p. 0020.)</p> <p>“[A]n award equal to 63% of the judgment is certainly reasonable based on Landlord’s partial success on the merits.” (R. p. 0021.)</p> <p>“The Court’s analysis and decision to reduce the Landlord’s fee request by 45% is not limited to Landlord’s limited degree of success” but includes “[o]ther equitable considerations arising from the evidence presented at trial[.]” (R. p. 0021.)</p>	YES

A review of the Order confirms that the trial court ruled on each of the six factors. (R. pp. 0015 – 0026.) Landlord is not entitled to a second attempt at obtaining a greater award than is due.

C. The Trial Court Properly Considered the Amounts Due to Landlord in Assessing the Fee Request, as Required by the Lease Agreement and South Carolina Law

The trial court acted within its discretion in reducing the fee award based on Landlord's limited success on the merits, as well as the language of the Lease Agreement and South Carolina law. (R. pp. 0015 – 0026.) On appeal, Landlord asks this Court to find that the trial court abused its discretion by purportedly giving "improper weight" to the beneficial results obtained factor and to remand the case due to the "improper reliance on a single factor." As indicated in the Order, the trial court's decision to reduce the fees and costs awarded to Landlord "is not limited Landlord's limited degree of success" but was made in consideration of the circumstances and equities of the case, including the evidence presented at trial, as well as the relevant fee provision of the Lease Agreement. (R. p. 0021.)

In determining whether Landlord's fee request was appropriate, the trial court considered the causes of action asserted by IOA, Landlord's counterclaims, the amount of damages sought by each party, and the jury's verdict on these claims. (R. pp. 0015 – 0019; R. p. 0021.) The trial court recognized that the relative degree of success on the merits is of particular importance when evaluating a request for attorney's fees and expenses. (R. p. 0019.) *See Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 436 (1983) (finding that "the extent of a plaintiff's success is a crucial factor in determining the proper amount of an award of attorney's fees"). The "beneficial results obtained" factor aids in determining whether an award is appropriate when considering whether the services of a lawyer facilitated a favorable result. *See Glasscock v. Glasscock*, 304 S.C. 158, 161, 403 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1991).

The trial court also properly considered the amount of the verdicts to determine the “sums then owing by Tenant to Landlord,” as provided in the fee provision of the Lease Agreement, which states:

Following the occurrence of any Event of Default, Tenant shall also be liable for and shall pay to Landlord, in addition to any sum provided to be paid above [...] (vii) all reasonable expenses incurred by Landlord in enforcing or defending Landlord’s rights and/or remedies at law, equity or hereunder, including **reasonable attorneys’ fees (which shall be not less than fifteen percent (15%) of all sums then owing by Tenant to Landlord)**, litigation expenses and court costs.

(R. p. 0021; R. p. 1283 (emphasis added).) The trial court found that “the jury’s determination that Landlord breached the Lease Agreement should be taken into account when determining the appropriate amount of fees and expenses, if any, that should be awarded to Landlord.” (R. p. 0018.) The jury awarded \$150,000.00 to Landlord and awarded \$25,000.00 to IOA. (R. pp. 0010 – 0013.) After offsetting the amount of the judgment in favor of IOA, the jury’s award to Landlord amounts to \$125,000.00. As such, Landlord’s request for a fee award in the amount \$172,206.03 was approximately **137%** of the sum owed by IOA. (R. p. 0133.) The trial court properly exercised its discretion in finding that a reduction was warranted under the circumstances. The trial court awarded \$94,500.00 in fees and expenses, which is substantially more than the 15% minimum under the Lease Agreement. (R. p. 0021.) Based on the language of the Lease Agreement, a reasonable award of attorney’s fees and expenses would “be not less than fifteen percent (15%) of all sums then owing by Tenant to Landlord,” *i.e.*, 15% of \$125,000.00. The trial court’s award of \$94,500 is approximately 76% of the judgment amount. (R. p. 0021.)

Despite receiving a fee award that is 76% of the judgment amount, Landlord requests that this Court reverse the Order due to the trial court’s “overemphasis on the amount of the judgments.” Landlord analogizes the trial court’s findings to an error identified by the Supreme

Court in *Baron Data Sys., Inc. v. Loter. Id.*, 297 S.C. 382, 385, 377 S.E.2d 296, 297 (1989) (“A reading of the Court of Appeals’ opinion indicates that the amount of the monetary judgment was the critical factor upon which the Court of Appeals relied in making its determination.”). Here, unlike *Baron* where the jury returned a verdict in favor of Baron, there was not a singular prevailing party in this case. *Id.* 297 S.C. at 383, 377 S.E.2d at 296. Each side prevailed on various issues and claims, as both IOA and Landlord received a verdict in their favor. (R. p. 0018.) The trial court compared the amount of damages sought to the amount awarded in quantifying the respective success of the parties. *See Randolph v. PowerComm Constr., Inc.*, 780 F. App’x 16, 23 (4th Cir. 2019) (recognizing that the courts “must compare the amount of damages sought to the amount awarded” in attempting to quantify success). On this basis, the trial court determined that “the circumstances whereby both parties have prevailed in this case warrants an adjustment” to the amount of fees requested. (R. p. 0018.)

Having properly determined that a reduction was warranted, the trial court undertook an analysis of a reduction that would be both reasonable and equitable and looked to cases in which courts have applied percentage reductions to arrive at a reasonable fee. (R. pp. 0020 – 0021.) Landlord argues that the trial court erred by citing decisions involving fee requests made pursuant to federal or state statute since the Lease Agreement does not require Landlord to be the “prevailing party” in order to recover fees.¹ As indicated in the Order, the trial court relied on these decisions as providing guidance on the issue of the appropriate percentage reduction, not to determine the prevailing party. (R. pp. 0019 – 0025.) Whether the decisions cited in the Order awarded fees pursuant to contract or statute had no bearing on the trial court’s decision to apply a percentage

¹ To the extent Landlord is suggesting that it can recover fees even when it does not prevail, Landlord is advancing a legal rule that has never been recognized in South Carolina, and that is irreconcilable with applicable law.

reduction to the amount requested by Landlord. (R. pp. 0019 – 0021.) The trial court properly recognized that Landlord is not entitled to be paid for time and labor devoted to issues that it lost and adjusted the fee request accordingly. (R. p. 0019.) *See Prevatte v. Asbury Arms*, 302 S.C. 413, 417, 396 S.E.2d 642, 644 (Ct. App. 1990) (finding that the time and labor devoted to issues on which party does not prevail should not be charged against the opposing party who prevailed on those issues).

The alleged errors in the Order were not raised to the trial court. Because Landlord's arguments relating to the trial court's decision to apply a reduction to the fee award have not been preserved for appellate review, the Order should be affirmed.

II. THE FEE REDUCTION WAS APPROPRIATE DUE TO IMPROPER INCLUSION OF LEGAL FEES RELATING TO UNSUCCESSFUL MOTIONS, EXCLUDED EVIDENCE, AND DUPLICATIVE TRIAL PREPARATION

As indicated by the record below, Landlord sought to require IOA to pay fees and costs relating to Landlord's unsuccessful motions, inadmissible evidence, or duplicative trial preparation. The trial court properly declined to do so. (R. pp. 0022 – 0024.) As indicated in the Order, the trial court concluded that an adjustment was proper based on its review of the record provided in support of Appellant's fee submission. (R. p. 0023.) Specifically, the trial court found that Landlord's fee request sought payment for tens of thousands of dollars of fees and expenses incurred relating to a summary judgment motion that was denied, in developing a theory that IOA had fraudulent intent for vacating the leased premises, including conducting significant discovery relating to IOA's subsequent occupancy of a leased space, and three or more rounds of trial preparation. (R. p. 0023.) The decision to reduce the amount of the award to exclude certain fees and costs was properly made within the discretion of the trial court and should not be disturbed. *See Baron*, 297 S.C. at 384, 377 S.E.2d at 297 ("Where there is a contract, the award of attorney's

fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.”).

In taking this appeal, Landlord argues that the trial court erred in excluding fees for unsuccessful motions and defenses because the time devoted to the unsuccessful issues was intertwined with its successful claims and defenses. The issue of whether the successful and unsuccessful claims and counterclaims were intertwined for purposes of a fee award was not raised to the trial court. To the extent Landlord believed that the issue had been raised but not ruled upon by the trial court, it failed to file a motion for reconsideration or a motion to alter or amend the Order. Having failed to raise this argument below, Landlord is not entitled to a second attempt at requiring IOA to pay for duplicative and excessive fees. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 645 (2011) (recognizing that issue preservation rules “prevent a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case”).

Therefore, the Order should be affirmed.

III. LANDLORD’S ARGUMENTS RELATING TO THE TRIAL COURT’S RELIANCE ON EVIDENCE ADMITTED AT TRIAL HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW

The third issue on appeal is both unpreserved and without merit. Under the guise of an appeal of the Order, Landlord asks this Court to weigh the evidence presented at trial, to disregard the jury’s verdict in favor of IOA relating to the rent reimbursement, and to find that IOA was ultimately responsible for Landlord’s breach of the Lease Agreement. These arguments relate to issues that have not been preserved for this Court’s review.

Landlord argues that the trial court abused its discretion by reducing the fee award based on its review of the record, including trial exhibits that Landlord believes were improperly

admitted. Landlord did not file a motion for a new trial or a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict but instead points to its pre-trial motions *in limine* as basis for reversing the trial court's Order. The purpose of a motion *in limine* is to prevent disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. *State v. Floyd*, 295 S.C. 518, 520, 369 S.E.2d 842, 843 (1988). A ruling on the motion is not the ultimate disposition on the admissibility of evidence. It remains subject to change based upon developments during trial. *Id.* Therefore, Landlord's argument relating to the trial court's findings based on evidence in the trial record is unpreserved for review by this Court. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (finding the appellant did not preserve for appellate review his claim that certain testimony constituted an impermissible character attack where, at trial, counsel objected to the testimony solely on relevancy grounds).

Furthermore, Landlord's argument that the trial court erred by considering inferences drawn from disputed evidence consists of conclusory statements and arguments of counsel without supporting legal authority. An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority. *See, e.g., State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 58–59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (noting when a party fails to cite authority or when the argument is simply a conclusory statement, the party is deemed to have abandoned the issue on appeal); *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.”).

Accordingly, the Order should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Appellant 1221 Bower, LLC has failed to present a basis warranting reversal of the trial court's Order. Therefore, Respondent Insurance Office of America, Inc., respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Order.